CITY OF WEST LAFAYETTE COMMON COUNCIL MINUTES February 6, 2012

The Common Council of the City of West Lafayette, Indiana, met in the Council Chambers at City Hall on February 6, 2012, at the hour of 6:30 p.m.

Mayor Dennis called the meeting to order taking the consent of the Council that a quorum was present, and presided.

The Pledge of Allegiance was repeated.

Mayor Dennis told the audience that of all the meetings we have during the year, this is his favorite. This is the meeting in which the City gets to say thank you to the folks who have helped make this such a great city; those who serve and protect us; and to thank all the Department Heads for doing such a great job.

CITY SUMMIT

Police Officer of the Year Award

Police Chief Jason Dombkowski, on behalf of himself and Police Merit Commission President Don Corrigan, presented the Police Officer of the Year Award. Chief Dombkowski thanked the Council for having the award every year. He shared that the award began in 2008, in conjunction with the Police Merit Commission, as a way to recognize all of the officers. Throughout the year there are Officer of the Quarter Awards given, wrapping up with the Officer of the Year Award. There is a bit of a competition process through the command staff nominating officers who work for them for this award, Chief Dombkowski recognized that a lot of hours are spent in our community each year. There were over 24,000 calls for service from the Police Department in 2011. A citation was written by Lieutenant Harris and Lieutenant VanVactor, nominating Officer Travis Morgan. The nominations were voted on and Officer Morgan was chosen as Police Officer of the Year. Police Chief Dombkowski read the citation to the audience, which listed multiple achievements during the past year by Officer Morgan. Chief Dombkowski presented Officer Morgan with the award and plague. Officer Morgan stated that the individual award is for all the men and women he works with, because police work is never individual. He expressed his appreciation for the award, for his fellow officers and for a great city in which to work.

<u>State of the City Address – Mayor Dennis</u>

Mayor Dennis presented his State of the City address, which may be found at the City's website, www.westlafayette.in.gov and is appended to the archived minutes.

Volunteer Recognition Awards – Mayor Dennis

Mayor Dennis stated it was a privilege and honor to present the awards to five unique women providing services in our city. He noted they all have certain

attributes in common: devotion, a giving spirit, a selfless attitude, and unconditional dedication to this community, specifically in the city's Parks and Recreation Department. They lead by example and make a difference in the world around them. Mayor Dennis presented the Volunteer Recognition Awards to:

Tanny Dawson-Snyder, who was unable to attend due to illness, for her work sharing singing, guitar playing, and recreational therapist experience with Parks and Recreation Special Events, the Global Fest, and Wabash Valley Alliance.

Linda Eales, for her work with West Lafayette Public Library Board, Purdue Women's Club, New Chauncey Housing, Inc, Global Fest Naturalization Ceremony, and with Samara, and the Frank Lloyd Wright-designed John E. Christian House.

Karen Springer, for her work with elementary school musicals, West Lafayette Community School Corporation Musical Dinner Theatre, West Lafayette Music Boosters, West Lafayette School Board of Trustees, West Lafayette Parks Board, West Lafayette Parks and Recreation Department, Global Fest, several West Lafayette High School volunteer activities, and West Lafayette Elementary School Parent Council.

Susan Ulrich, for her work with (NICHES) Northern Indiana Citizens Helping Ecosystems Survive, Celery Bog Nature Area, Banks of the Wabash, compiling the first Warren County Breeding Bird Atlas, Friends Book Sale for West Lafayette Public Library, Library Friends Council, Friends Used Book Store and Book Fair, West Lafayette Public Library Endowment Foundation, Disposition Committee, Sycamore Audubon Society, Lilly Nature Center, and West Central Chapter of Indiana Native Plants and Wildflower Society.

Dot Wankat, for her work with Global Fest International Food Booths, the Costume Department for Musicals at West Lafayette High School, sewing baby quilts and newborn necessities for Newborns in Need, and West Lafayette Public Library Outreach Program for Daycare.

Mayor Dennis opened the regular business meeting of the Council for February 2012 and asked Clerk-Treasurer Rhodes to call the roll.

Present: Bunder, Burch, Hunt, Keen, Thomas, and VanBogaert.

Absent: Dietrich.

Also present were City Attorney Burns, Clerk-Treasurer Rhodes, Public Works Director Buck, Police Chief Dombkowski, Street Commissioner Downey, Human Resources Director Foster, Fire Chief Heath, WWTU Director Henderson, Parks Superintendent Payne, Information Technology Manager Newman, and Director of Development Poole.

MINUTES

Councilor Keen moved for acceptance of the minutes of the December 29, 2011, Pre-Council Meeting, and the Jaunary 3, 2012, Common Council Meeting. Councilor Burch seconded the motion, and the motion passed *viva voce*.

<u>COMMITTEE STANDING REPORTS</u> STREET, SANITATION, AND WASTEWATER TREATMENT UTILITY

Councilor Bunder presented this report, which will be on file in the Clerk-Treasurer's Office. Councilor Bunder reported updates on the dedication of Lindberg Bridge, status of the Yeager Road and Indiana-American Water projects under construction this year, and the 2011 Wastewater Utility Green Power report. Councilor Bunder noted that the City of Lafayette had a proposal to rename US 52 Bypass or moving it to be part of US 231, and he asked if the City of West Lafayette was part of that discussion, or if it involves us. Mayor Dennis replied that it does and that part of what is being discussed is in reference to INDOT's philosophy, which is that the roadways should reflect somewhat the way that the state of Ohio operates their roadways. In Ohio, any roadways that are within city boundaries are managed, owned and regulated by the city, and anything outside of that would still be under the state. This is part of the same philosophy of passing off their resources to the City. Mayor Dennis declared the eventuality is that the City of West Lafayette will take over the roads within our limits, at a price that can be agreed upon. There are a significant number of miles of roadway the City would be absorbing. The miles of roadway the City would take care of would double, and the number of electronic signals would increase from 8 to about 40. The City is looking at that process. The actual redesign of the roadway is actually left to INDOT and their philosophy is to make it more efficient. The project is somewhat like several years ago when they relocated the railways, but it will not have a negative impact. Councilor Bunder and Mayor Dennis concurred that it would be very beneficial for the City to gain control of both the 52 Bypass and Hwy 43 (North River Road).

PUBLIC SAFETY AND ORDINANCE

Councilor Keen stated there were significant personnel changes within the last month which Councilor Burch will present in her report, and the rest of his report will be on file in the Clerk-Treasurer's Office.

PURDUE RELATIONS

Councilor VanBogaert shared that on Monday, January 23rd, several representatives met with members of Purdue University and Tippecanoe County in the Community Partnership Meeting. There was a discussion of the goals of their Master Plan, including commercial development, an academic master plan for the compact growth of academic building, and the capital planning of the Intercollegiate Athletic Department. Some of the projects being discussed would occur over the next ten to twenty years and there was also discussion in more detail of some of the logistical phases of the project at 516 Northwestern Avenue.

PARKS AND RECREATION

Councilor Hunt stated the formal Parks Report was on file in the Clerk-Treasurer's Office, but she wanted to highlight the Dare to Bare Event at Riverside Skating Center. The Event occurred on Friday, February 3, 2012 with mild weather and plenty of ice. There was great attendance with over 120 people and a theme of football and cheerleader outfits, reflective of the game to be played at Purdue University the next day. She stated the event was fun and a great success.

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Councilor Thomas presented this report, which will be on file in the Clerk-Treasurer's Office. Councilor Thomas reported on activities of the Department of Development for the month including the upcoming process for Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funding, the MetroNet fiber optic project, ribbon-cutting for Poblano's Restaurant in Levy Plaza, participation in the Big Ten Managers Meeting in Evanston, the proposed Faith West Planned Development on the former Champion Center site, planning for the inaugural Purdue Boilermaker Half Marathon, and the Historic Preservation Commission meetings.

PERSONNEL

Councilor Burch announced the new hires and personnel changes for the month of January:

- Michelle Payne, West Lafayette Wastewater Utility Billing Office
- Tim Heath, appointed Chief of the West Lafayette Fire Department
- Lesley Turner, Administrative Assistant/Deputy Clerk-Treasurer
- Anthony Newman, Information Technology Manager

Councilor Burch extended a welcome to all the new hires.

BUDGET AND FINANCE

No report.

REPORT OF APC REPRESENTATIVE

Councilor Keen reminded everyone that on February 15, 2012 at 7:00 p.m., at the Tippecanoe County Building in the Tippecanoe Room, there will be a monthly Area Plan Meeting and on this meeting's agenda will be discussion of the Muinzer project on Northwestern Avenue. Councilor Bunder asked if the Faith West Project was on the Agenda for that meeting and Councilor Keen stated it was not, but will be coming forth soon.

SPECIAL REPORTS

a. Redevelopment Commission 2011 Year End Report Development Director Poole reviewed the activities and accomplishments of the Redevelopment Commission during 2011. The report is on file in the Clerk-Treasurer's office.

Director Poole reported on projects in the TIF districts.

Levee/Village TIF District

- Phase I of Wabash Heritage Trail was started, which goes along Robinson, River Road and into Happy Hollow Park. Phase II goes from Happy Hollow Park to the corner of Rose and Kingston Streets.
- The revitalization of Tommy Johnson Park is one of the more visible ones that everyone has seen. The New Chauncey Cooperative deserves a big round of applause and thanks for the help in the project and a neighbor of the park offered free maintenance of the Park prior to the improvements and deserves thanks as well.
- Engineering Department did much resurfacing in the Levee/Village area and it is much improved.
- Gumball Alley is now cleaned up and is a testimony to departments working well together. The Engineering and Wastewater Departments worked together on correcting that problem.
- Welcome Signs were updated on Fowler Street.

KCB TIF District

- Lindberg Bridge completion
- Fire Station # 3 (a permanent fire station) will be built with a customized financing package which will be financed over seven years with a couple balloon payments at the end, but that package allowed the station to be built without bonding for it, which saves a tremendous amount of money. Everyone working together on that made it happen.

Sagamore Parkway TIF District

 Alan White, a local developer, purchased the former K-Mart site and has sold off most of the parcels. In working with the City, the Redevelopment Commission invested \$225,000 in improvements for traffic-calming measure, sidewalks and landscaping. IU Arnett Health will build a 30,000 square feet sight on that location. Mike's Car Wash has been built, and the other two sites have been spoken for and construction should begin later this year.

Director Poole noted some other general highlights including that Dow AgroScience has once again expanded their presence within the Purdue Research Park and become the largest tenant in the park. Also, Campus Acquisitions, out of Chicago has purchased the long-suffering Chauncey Square within the Village Area. The property is currently under construction for the second and final phase of the residential component. It should be ready for fall occupancy.

Sagamore West Farmers Market has been extremely successful with \$300,000 in sales per year. Director Poole said they have been very happy to work with the Parks Department on that and that it has been a great addition to the city.

He reported that the Historic Commission has had some great discussion at its meetings and he is looking forward to submitting the actual ordinance for review later this year.

Working together with the City of Lafayette, the Lafayette-West Lafayette Convention and Visitors Bureau, and Purdue University, Mr. Poole reported an agreement has been reached to host the first Purdue Boilermaker Half Marathon on October 20, 2012. He extended an invitation to all to participate in the event.

Councilor Bunder asked Director Poole and City Attorney Eric Burns if they had any indication of what the state government will do in relation to TIF districts and how they will report to the city. Senate Bill 25, which is Luke Kenley's bill, requests that City Council review the Redevelopment Commission's Budget for its Spending Plan for the following year. Director Poole reported that Senate Bill 352 died in committee, and that it would have prevented redevelopment commissions from actually owning single family homes and condominiums, and things of that nature, which would have essentially prevented the Redevelopment Commission from doing any kind of neighborhood stabilization work. Director Poole stated he was very happy to see that bill did not make it out. Mayor Dennis asked about the time parameters that changed with Kenley's bill. Director Poole responded that if the Redevelopment Commission does commit to an incentive package over \$5 million or one that is over three years in length, it would have to come before the Council for approval. Attorney Burns agreed that from all he's heard the Kenley Bill will pass this session of the Senate.

b. 2012 Wastewater Treatment Utility (WWTU) Budget Mr. Jim Treat (O.W. Krohn & Associates), the WWTU financial advisor, reviewed the 2012 WWTU budget. The entire report is on file in the Clerk-Treasurer's Office. He highlighted four schedules.

Schedule I (Budgeted Operation and Maintenance Expenses) includes detailed, line item, by department, operating expenses. This schedule compares the budget operated under in 2011 to what is planned for 2012. Mr. Treat observed that Director Dave Henderson does an excellent job keeping the Wastewater Utility facility on budget. The numbers through the first 11 months of 2011 were balanced at or below budget. Mr. Treat observed there will be an increase in budget for 2012. The 2012 budget will be just under \$4.6 million. That's an increase of about \$195,000 or 4.5% above 2011. The primary component of the increase is wages, benefits and insurance for employees. With one exception, there is no increase in the employment positions at the Wastewater Utility, so the increase basically reflects the 1.5% pay increase for all employees citywide for this year, and an additional one-time payment of \$500. The other increase reflected in the budget change is an insurance premium cost increase of about 15%, being entirely absorbed by the WWTU. None of that increase is

being passed on to the employees. The one exception to employment positions mentioned is the hire of a new Information Technology Director, Anthony Newman, for whom the Wastewater Utility pays a share of his salary. Other budget increases are reflective of equipment repair and maintenance expenses and pollution prevention expenses.

Councilor Burch inquired about the \$4,000 increase in legal costs in the budget. Dave Henderson responded that the amount was for 2011 extra legal costs for the Indiana-American Water rate increase case.

Schedule II (Projected Operating Revenues and Expenses for the Twelve Months Ending December 31) looks at current operating budget and where operating revenues will be. Mr. Treat observed that Purdue revenues have flattened out somewhat without any real increase in the last several years. The estimate of billing revenues has been reduced to about \$8.4 million in total sewer fee revenues in order to be conservative. Recycling sales are up which resulted in increase in revenue from \$45,000 to \$60,000. Based on current experience with increasing miscellaneous revenues, which have running ahead of budget, this item has been increased to \$25,000 instead of the prior \$5,000. Included in the category 'miscellaneous revenues' are administrative fees, rentals, a contract for street sweeping with INDOT, and other things that are not often discussed, but contribute to the bottom line. Mr. Treat reported they are looking at operating with revenues of \$9.16 million and operating expenses of about \$4.6 million. The report presents result of cash flows resulting when the assumptions are that revenues remain flat and some inflation factors are applied to the expenses.

Schedule III (Five Year Capital Expenditure Plan) gives details of capital projects. Mr. Treat reviewed the capital projects. The most flexible project, in terms of timing, is the Purdue Research Park Improvements. There is a substantial project, the PRP Lift Station and Main Extensions, with about \$2.6 million under the Collection System and Lift Station categories. Mr. Treat observed the desire is to be ready and not hold back any development but at the same time not make any major investments there until the next section is being developed. The Soldier's Home Road Lift Station has been designed and is ready to bid. That project is expected to move forward soon. Under collections projects, there is very little left to do on the North River Road Interceptor and on the Western Interceptor Division IV, there are some change orders and clean-up things that didn't get paid last year that are in this year's budget. Western Interceptor Division V was bid and started in 2011. The \$1.9 million included in this year's budget for that work is the remaining contracted amount needed to wrap up that project this year. Cumberland Phase II Project has already been bid and is ready to go, and the amount reflected in the budget is the WWTU portion of that project. The Capacity Expansion Project is to improve capacity at the plant. IDEM has given approval for this project, which involves an aeration tank expansion, about a \$2.0 million project.

Clerk-Treasurer Rhodes reported that bids for the project will be opened on February 14, 2012. Mr. Treat noted that most of those costs will be absorbed this year but there will most likely be some carryover for a two-year period. Mr. Treat noted there was also included in this Schedule costs for replacing garbage and recycling trucks. Those kinds of equipment replacements are usually programmed in to be replaced every three to four years. In 2012 and 2013 there will be new billing software purchased for \$50,000.

Mr. Treat summarized that significant capital expenditures, over \$11.0 million to \$12.0 million, will occur in the next five years. The CSO (Combined Sewer Overflow) Long Term Control Plan is not included in this report. Mr. Treat stated they do expect a plan to be approved this year, but it is a 15-year program. What the engineers have laid out so far does not involve any major capital projects in the next five years. It is beyond the scope of the budget the plant is looking at currently, until we see some major things appear in the budget, but planning includes what is known to be coming down the road as part of that Long Term Control Plan.

Schedule IV (Projected Cash Flows and Bond Coverage For the Twelve Months Ended December 31), the last page of the budget, includes a wrap-up of the various schedules and shows an expected net revenue of about \$4.4 million to \$4.8 million to pay debt service and the cost of capital projects. There is a substantial balance in the Improvement Fund, and some of it has been spent to reduce the need for additional debt. Mr. Treat observed the Utility needs to keep an eye on the Improvement Fund and make sure the code and ordinance requirements are met as far as cash balances, bond payment and reserves, and operating cash. The money in this fund is not only to be used for planned projects but also for unplanned projects and emergencies, and for temporary interfund loans with the City, so the City does not have to go out to banks and borrow the money. Mr. Treat stated it is wise to keep the balance within \$3.0 million to \$4.0 million for long term security.

Councilor Thomas asked for clarification of the budget revenue drop from Purdue of \$300,000. Mr. Treat explained that Purdue had additional flows in the past, and that Purdue has done different things in handling these flows now. While Purdue University is building, they are also doing some retrofitting and saving on water usage and cutting back, so the Utility is not really seeing any growth on the revenues from Purdue. Director Henderson added that Purdue reports both water consumption and deduct meters for water that does not get returned to the sewer system. They identified a deduct meter that had been reported as a usage meter, so there was an accounting problem there and when that was resolved, along with some of the retrofits in the residence halls, there was a substantial drop in revenues.

Councilor Keen inquired about the FOG (Fats, Oils and Grease) revenues on Schedule II. He noticed that the 2010 revenues were \$27,000 and the projected revenues for 2011 were closer to \$70,000. He asked how close to the projected amounts the WWTU actually was. Director Henderson stated we were actually well under the projected amounts. Councilor Keen asked if we should be closer to \$50,000 for 2012. Director Henderson said we are hoping so and that in the first month and a half we were on track to be. Early indications are that things are improving and the plant signed permits for a couple of new grease haulers. He said intake is very inconsistent. Some weeks they have three or four haulers come in and other weeks they don't. One hauler services local Walmarts and Sam's Clubs and comes in once a quarter. The plant is looking at other potential sources of feed stock for the digesters. Last year the plant experimented with thin stillage, a bi-product of ethanol production, but it was too potent and created all kinds of problems with too much gas production and safety valves popping. Other waste is being considered including waste from a local manufacturing plant which might work well with the digester. Laboratory analysis is being done to see if it will work. It is a good source and could result in a consistent number of gallons delivered each week. The grease deliveries have been very inconsistent.

Councilor Keen also asked about the drop in recyclable sales from 2010 to 2011. He noticed the 2012 projected sales are back up again and wondered how close to accurate that projection would be. Wastewater Utility Director Henderson responded that the 2010 amount in the report is actual sales and he didn't have actual sales for 2011, but the 2011 sales are way above the projected budget amount of \$45,000. He noted that the plant had moved closer to a \$60,000 per year level of sales, and they expected that much in 2012.

Councilor Bunder asked for more information regarding the cost of legal representation for the Indiana-American Water rate hike situation, and noted that it has to be more than the \$4000 which was mentioned earlier. Attorney Burns, Mayor Dennis and Clerk-Treasurer Rhodes all addressed the question and reported that it is definitely higher than that. Clerk-Treasurer Rhodes stated that the City compiles the expenses for legal services weekly as they come through the Board of Works, and that it can be obtained from the records of meetings. The total cost so far is higher than \$50,000. Councilor Bunder asked where the rest of the money is coming from. Clerk-Treasurer Rhodes responded that it is a combination of General Fund, legal, and some consulting (Clerk-Treasurer's budget), and EDIT (Economic Development Income Tax) for support for the financial analysis and for the legal representation. She stated that it is a major undertaking and that she would report back on spending to date.

PUBLIC RELATIONS

<u>a.</u> Council appointment to the Board of the Greater Lafayette Public Transportation Corporation (GLPTC)

Councilor Hunt re-nominated a current member, Joe Krause, whom she said had a lot of experience and who actually rides the bus all the time and is extremely active in assisting people who ride the Amtrak train to Chicago. He volunteers at the track all the time. Councilor Burch seconded the nomination.

The motion was approved unanimously by voice vote.

<u>b.</u> Council Appointment to the Police Merit Commission Councilor Hunt nominated for full-term appointment, Nina Kirkpatrick, who is an attorney, grew up in West Lafayette, and who has been filling an unexpired term for Jill Suitor who went on sabbatical. Councilor Hunt stated she had spoken with Police Merit Commission President Corrigan and he recommended her as well. Councilor Burch seconded the motion.

The motion was approved unanimously by voice vote.

FINANCIAL REPORT

Clerk-Treasurer Rhodes announced that on Friday, February 17, 2012 there will be a public hearing conducted by the Department of Local Government Finance (DLGF) on the 2012 Budget. All entities in Tippecanoe County are considered at that hearing. The meeting will be held in the Wabash Room in the Tippecanoe County Office Building at 1:30 p.m. Everyone is welcome to attend and the floor will be open for comments. The public Gateway which provides access to budgets and shortly, annual financial reports, is available to the public. The certified assessed valuation figures filed with the DLGF are also available there.

Clerk-Treasurer Rhodes stated they are hoping for a speedy recovery of Councilor Steve Dietrich and at the convenience of the Council, meeting to review the financial position at the beginning of this year. She said she would like to hear from the Council as to when they would like to have a work session in that regard.

LEGAL REPORT

City Attorney Burns stated that the legal report has been filed, and Councilors have received copies. There were no comments.

UNFINISHED BUSINESS

None

Resolution No. 03-12 A Resolution Requesting the Transfer of Funds (CCD) (Prepared by the Clerk-Treasurer)

Mayor Dennis read Resolution No. 03-12 by title.

Councilor Keen moved that Resolution No. 03-12 be passed on first and only reading, and that the vote be by roll call. The motion was seconded by Councilor Burch.

Clerk-Treasurer Rhodes stated that this transfer resolution is necessary to pay the portion of the benefits for the IT Director that is paid out of city funds. The remainder is paid out of the Wastewater Utility budget.

Clerk-Treasurer Rhodes called the roll call vote:

	AYE	NAY	ABSENT	ABSTAIN
Bunder	>			
Burch	>			
Dietrich			~	
Hunt	>			
Keen	>			
Thomas	>			
VanBogaert	>			

Clerk-Treasurer Rhodes stated that the vote was 6 AYE and 0 NAY.

Mayor Dennis announced that Resolution No. 03-12 passed on first and only reading.

COMMUNICATIONS

Police Chief Dombkowski reported that he had been in communication with Councilor Dietrich whose recovery is going well.

Councilor Bunder noted that the Council wished Councilor Hunt well on her upcoming surgery.

Councilor VanBogaert reported on the recent Council work session on redistricting which took place on January 24, 2012. He asked for any conceptual ideas for potential maps moving forward that anyone might wish to contribute in time for the

COMMON COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, February 6, 2012, CONTINUED

March 1st Pre-Council meeting next month. The Council will be deciding at that meeting when they will get together either for a special work session or putting together something fairly quickly.

CITIZEN COMMENTS

Thomas Kessler (479 Maple Street) inquired as to how many federal dollars the City of West Lafayette received in 2011. Clerk-Treasurer Rhodes responded that the City is very close to having that total as part of the federal grant schedule which is compiled for the annual financial reporting required by the State. She will let him know in a few days.

ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business at this time, Councilor Burch moved for adjournment, and Mayor Dennis adjourned the meeting, the time being 8:38 p.m.



State of the City of West Lafayette 2012 February 4, 2013

Welcome to the City of West Lafayette's 2012 State of the City address. This is my fifth report to you on the condition of our community. I've never been more encouraged by where we are and excited by where we are headed. The reason for my optimism, especially in light of our nation's continuing economic woes, revolves around these three words: save, build and grow. It's what we have been doing and it's what we will continue to do.

Our City's foundation consists of ordinances and administrative fiscal policies that support its structure. The infrastructure includes the roads, sidewalks, sewer lines, wastewater utility and public works projects. The City also has security, a highly skilled public safety component. Last but not least, we have personal offerings, like our parks and recreational programs that add to the quality of life in our community.

As we take a look at our City departments, there are proud accomplishments and exciting plans to share as we work together to continue saving, building and managing our growth for future generations. With a nod to our dedicated Police Department and Police Chief Jason Dombkowski, I am very pleased to share there were no homicides in West Lafayette in 2012. The most current five-year FBI Uniform Crime Reporting statistics show West Lafayette has the lowest combined rate of violent crime and property crime compared to any Big Ten university city and compared to any of the university cities or towns in Indiana. An impressive ranking!

Here's more good news: our fine men and women in blue responded to 24,197 calls for service last year, a two percent decrease from 2011. Criminal arrests increased two percent, up 1,597 from 1,572 in 2011. Juvenile arrests decreased five percent, down to 53 from 56 in 2011 and alcohol arrests decreased 17 percent. Traffic enforcement has been a priority with a focus on school zone safety. Officers issued 1,234 traffic citations last year, an increase of five percent from 2011. Traffic crashes increased three percent while alcohol related crashes decreased and thankfully, no fatal crashes occurred.

The Police Department's new vehicle lockout assistance service proved to be a useful and appreciated program with officers unlocking 814 vehicles for our citizens. This type of service is evidence of how our police force has grown in the type of quality of life enhancement service offered. Our Neighborhood Resource Team continued to grow in addressing quality of life issues in our neighborhoods, with the Team responding to 2,398 calls last year, focusing on code enforcement, parking violations and animal control issues, along with issuing 19,189 parking tickets.

Moving on to our firefighting team, West Lafayette is fortunate to have a very skilled, proactive Fire Department led by Fire Chief Tim Heath. In 2012, our firefighters responded to 1,785 calls, including 60 reported fires, but no arsons. Always looking for ways to grow while saving taxpayers' money, Chief Heath led the charge in pursuing and receiving more than \$25,000 in equipment grants. With federal funds, a Polaris Ranger was purchased and used on several occasions by the Fire Department to perform rescues and fire suppression on the 22.5 miles of trails throughout the City. Other grant dollars provided for 75 smoke detectors to be distributed in the community.

Our community grew a bit larger late last year with a ribbon cutting at Fire Station #3 at 1100 Kalberer Road. This state-of-the-art building was constructed not only for today, but for future generations. It is a great example of responsible growth for the betterment of our entire community. Station #3 will house two trucks and five firefighters per shift.

Speaking of responsible growth, the Fire Department saw four individuals retire from service last year with five new firefighters coming on board, putting the Department at full staff. The Department's command structure was reconfigured last year. This change defined and refined the roles our command staff plays on all fire ground control activities.

I am extremely proud of Chief Dombkowski and Chief Heath's vision, leadership and caring commitment in providing these essential services for our citizens. They, along with our two teams of dedicated public safety professionals, have contributed immeasurably to our building, saving and growing for the future.

Our community streets have seen a wide variety of activity this past year. From more than 271 tons of asphalt used to repair potholes to two street sweepers collecting more than 718 tons of debris in 1,474 staff hours to more than 698 tons of leaves being collected, it's been a busy year for Street Commissioner David Downey and his team.

Growth and quality of life enhancements go hand-in-hand with West Lafayette's green initiatives. To that end, I'm pleased to share that 946 tons of yard waste and 2,631 tons of recycled items were collected last year with the percentage of items saved from the landfill increasing to 42 percent of the total collected. Responsible growth continued in the recycling arena with the City's purchase and distribution of 5,000 recycling carts to residents whose commitment to helping build our green initiatives resulted in our recycling rate going up 26 percent.

A drop-off site south of State Street is planned for residents in multiple unit housing complexes. Future recycling of electronic equipment is planned as part of the City's overall recycling mix, due to these items being prohibited from the landfill. The Pollution Prevention Department, under the umbrella of the Street Department, now has a new street sweeper to aid their efforts.

We have multiple examples of fiscally responsible, strategic growth in the many projects City Engineer Dave Buck and his talented team worked on last year. Cumberland Avenue reconstruction (phase 2)

stretches from Salisbury Street to Yeager Road and contains two roundabouts at Yeager Road and Manchester Street. This project was both on time and under budget, at \$3.6 million, well under the \$4.4 million budgeted. Yeager Road reconstruction (phase 1) involved widening this road to five lanes from US 52 south to Northwestern Avenue. A new trail, sidewalks and street lights will improve the entire length of this project. Completed two months ahead of schedule, this work was done well under budget at \$2.4 million.

Our Engineering Department team oversaw more than \$1.1 million in street resurfacing and ADA-compliant sidewalks and ramps, as well as street repairs. Work was completed on South Chauncey Avenue, Dehart Street, Connolly Street, Rose Lane, South Street, Salisbury Street, Ravinia Road, Soldiers Home Road, and Hartman Court. Strong evidence of West Lafayette's growth, particularly when our nation and state are barely out of a recession, is found in the dollar amount of \$64,788,000, the highest construction dollar value ever recorded in the City of West Lafayette. Building permits totaled 423, plan reviews totaled 450, and building inspections totaled 986.

West Lafayette's growth is closely tied to the completion of US 231. Special appreciation goes to Indiana's former governor and Purdue University's new president, Mitch Daniels. Thanks to his leadership and commitment to this major road project, US 231 now provides our City with tremendous opportunities. In the coming years, we expect to see explosive change surrounding this new road that is the major new entrance, the front door, to West Lafayette.

Growth is inevitable, whether it's done with a positive approach using vision, planning and structure or a negative approach of unmanageable chaos. Expanding city boundaries through strategic, thoughtful, controlled growth measures is paramount. We are taking a laser-like approach regarding the expansion of our city boundaries to help minimize problems and maximize benefit. All the opportunities annexation affords West Lafayette lie at the front door of our community. The continued cooperation of the City and Purdue University's public safety departments are very much part and parcel of successful future annexation opportunities.

Our innovative, proactive Wastewater Utility team and all they have accomplished under Director Dave Henderson's leadership contribute to the infrastructure. Dave's ongoing goal was to manage our continued unprecedented growth with responsible spending. The hard work and progressive talent of our Wastewater crew means that 2.36 billion gallons of wastewater was treated at our Plant in 2012. The Western Interceptor was put into service, reducing combined sewer overflows, providing capacity for growth in the City and eliminating three lift stations.

With Aeration Tank #5 added, capacity at the Wastewater Plant increased 17 percent last year. Our digester project that harnesses wastewater, grease, waste and food scraps to produce electricity was recognized with a Governor's Award for Environmental Excellence in Renewable Energy. Nineteen percent of the Plant's power now is generated onsite. The City will be building a new regional lift station at the Purdue Research Park this spring. Because of Dave Henderson and his team's "green" vision and

innovative approaches, we are prepared to grow and continue serving residents, businesses and the community at large.

Our community is proud to offer amenities to make it interesting and valuable. To that end, the City's Parks Department under the wise and steady leadership of Parks Superintendent Joe Payne has experienced plenty of progress. Honoring a long time Parks advocate, the Paula R. Woods Park was dedicated last July. West Lafayette's part of the Wabash Heritage Trail network was completed with a new trail constructed along North River Road and through Happy Hollow Park to Rose Street.

Part of building and growing is spearheading new initiatives. A first for any trail in Indiana, West Lafayette soon will boast the installation of new trailhead and interpretive signs with 19 miles of paved trails and more than five miles of footpaths for community enjoyment. Joe and his team didn't stop there. Parks Department staff oversaw the installation of the Celery Bog webcam in the Nature Center, registered 3,950 residents for Morton Community Center programs and classes and prepared and maintained Riverside Skating Center for 14,470 people to enjoy.

Thanks to the West Lafayette Community School Corporation generously allowing the use of their facilities, 2,100 youngsters participated in all kinds of recreational programs last year. Thirty-four local artists and hundreds of guests enjoyed Art on the Wabash in Tapawingo Park. Thanks to the caring commitment of our Tree Fund Committee who contributed 930 hours toward growing our City through trees, 516 new street trees were planted and West Lafayette was again recognized as a Tree City USA.

With great appreciation for the invaluable contributions and visionary thinking of City Engineer Buck, Street Commissioner Downey, Wastewater Utility Director Henderson and Parks Superintendent Payne, we are saving money while building and growing West Lafayette. Our Development Department is one of our remaining departments that I am pleased to recognize for all of Development Director Chandler Poole and his team's innovative work.

Purdue Research Park certainly continues to grow and expand its international and national footprint, welcoming companies from Israel and Italy last year. Our Redevelopment Commission worked with Purdue Research Foundation to create an incentive package that attracted a new clean fuel engine testing facility for Caterpillar. Automotive Robotics Proving Labs will break ground this year.

The expansion of the Levee/Village Tax Increment Finance District includes the New Chauncey neighborhood and the Northwestern Avenue corridor. City Council-approved Wang Hall is a partnership between Purdue and Purdue Research Foundation as a new development in the Northwestern Corridor. The 720 Building is a Council-approved mixed use project that will have a grocery store near campus. Community input was a critical factor in moving both projects forward.

Sagamore Commons now is fully developed with a multi-million dollar IU Health Building, Mike's Carwash, Farmers and Merchants Bank and Miracles Fitness. Faith West is being developed by Faith

Ministries as a mixed use facility that will have housing and a community center located on the first floor. As a finished project, Chauncey Square is a gem in the efforts to redevelop and stabilize the near campus areas of West Lafayette.

Chandler and his team were key players in the inaugural Purdue Boilermaker Half Marathon, a partnership between the City, Purdue and Lafayette with more than 2,500 people participating from 30 states and three countries.

Saving, building and growing extend into our public art initiatives. Two art installations happened last year with a *Point of Departure* located outside of Greyhouse Coffee with Greyhouse paying for the sculpture and the City handling the installation. Today, it is at the center of activity in the Village. *Delight of Accomplishment* is a mural gracing the walls of the Chauncey Village Walkway, the former Gumball Alley as the final part of revitalizing the former stinky alley into a clean and colorful pedestrian walkway in the Village.

Thanks to the hard work of those leading the Sagamore West Farmers' Market, the event marked its eighth year in 2012 with vendors and the community making this event a true gathering place. Hats off to Chandler and his proactive, talented team for positioning West Lafayette as an appealing location to live, work and play.

Due to the growing demands of technology, we created an IT Department, headed by hard working IT Director Anthony Newman. The business of your local government is being enabled by technology instead of technology driving our business changes.

With a centralized plan, wireless access points are being deployed to all City owned buildings and parks, including free wireless access at the Village. Security assessments are being performed as well. We recently launched a pilot program, co-locating West Lafayette's server at Purdue, as a savings step and is yet another great example of the strong partnership between the City and the University.

Finally, I am very pleased to share with you that our fiscal condition is very strong. We save. We build and we grow. We are successful with this approach because of Clerk-Treasurer Judy Rhodes' financial expertise and wise counsel on all money matters. Her deep and broad knowledge of municipal finances is why we have maintained our General Fund reserve in a strong and healthy condition, with increases happening even during the thick of the recession. A true achievement indeed!

Generational upgrades have been implemented as well. The fact that West Lafayette enjoys and benefits from a AA bond rating is nothing shy of incredible and a testament to how highly regarded our City is for its responsible fiscal management.

In concluding my comments, I want to spend a few minutes talking about the key role our partners play in our success. Our partnership with Purdue University and the Purdue Research Foundation is instrumental

in our ability to continue growing responsibly. We appreciate our partners and thank them for their continued commitment to our collective success.

Finally, a heartfelt thank you to our City Councilors who labor mightily to make everything work well in our City. Thanks also to the Board of Public Works and Safety, the Redevelopment Commission and the Parks Board for their leadership and vision and to our many volunteer committees who serve as the lifeblood of the City's many initiatives.

To all West Lafayette residents, our constituents, I salute and thank you for your caring commitment to our community and for the ideas, concerns, questions, opportunities and challenges you provide me and my team week in and week out. Working together, we will continue saving, building and growing to help ensure the future success of the community we love.